



## Planning Title IV-E Prevention Services: A Toolkit for States

# Understanding Roles of Funding and Decision Points



#### March 2020

Rivka Weiser, Jill Spielfogel, Kristie Liao

This document was prepared by Mathematica for the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation under contract HHSP233201500035I/HHSP23337015T (Mathematica reference number 50295). Jessica Heeringa was Mathematica's Project Director and Laura Radel was the Federal Project Officer.

It is part of "Planning Title IV-E Prevention Services: A Toolkit for States," which can be accessed at <u>https://aspe.hhs.gov/IV-E-prevention-toolkit</u>.

Suggested Citation: Weiser, R., J. Spielfogel, and K. Liao. "Planning Title IV-E Prevention Services: A Toolkit for States. Understanding Roles of Funding and Decision Points." Washington, DC: Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, March 2020. Available at <a href="https://aspe.hhs.gov/pdf-report/IV-E-prevention-toolkit-funding-and-decision-points">https://aspe.hhs.gov/pdf-report/IV-E-prevention-toolkit-funding-and-decision-points</a>.

### CONTENTS

UNDERSTANDING ROLES OF FUNDING AND DECISION POINTS
A. Coverage and funding mechanisms for MH and SUD services
Table 1. Key relevant coverage and funding mechanisms that states can use for MHand SUD services3
B. Coverage and funding mechanisms for in-home parent skill-based programs18
Table 2. Key Medicaid and HRSA coverage and funding mechanisms that states can use for home visiting programs (and some other in-home parent skill-based programs)19
Box 1. Oklahoma example: Using Medicaid targeted case management to support home visiting
C. Additional considerations related to coverage and funding mechanisms24
Box 2. Washington example27
References

This page has been left blank for double-sided copying.

## UNDERSTANDING ROLES OF FUNDING AND DECISION POINTS



After you identify priorities for prevention services planning, you will want to consider how to offer services to families, including the appropriate funding mechanisms.<sup>1</sup> Braiding funds (as defined in the introduction to this toolkit) can help states ensure that available services are comprehensive, coordinated, and non-duplicative. Funding strategies must account for a variety of factors, such as the status of Title IV-E prevention services as payer of last resort (see Section C.1 of this document and Appendix A of this toolkit for more details), and which issues or populations' needs you plan to address. The following are examples:

- If your state is looking to cover services for populations that *are not* eligible for insurance (and eligibility is not expected to change), you will need to consider various non-Medicaid funding sources (including Title IV-E prevention services reimbursement). Key parameters of these funding sources vary, such as which services can be funded and for whom.
- If you want to address issues related to those who *are* covered by Medicaid, you can talk with your state Medicaid agency about whether Medicaid coverage might change (also see Section A.2 of this document about existing flexibilities under Medicaid managed care) and consider non-Medicaid funding sources.
- To address the timeliness of services that already have a funding source, you can consider the causes of delays and whether Title IV-E prevention services reimbursement might be an appropriate mechanism to address them (for further information, see Section C.1 of this document).

The information in this document can help stakeholders understand the current state of funding and coverage in their state (for example, implications of Medicaid's use of a particular coverage mechanism) as well as considerations when considering changing the usage of funding sources. This part of the toolkit includes information on the following:

(1) Coverage and funding mechanisms for mental health (MH) and substance use disorder (SUD) services (Section A)

(2) Coverage and funding mechanisms for in-home parent skill-based programs (Section B)

(3) Additional considerations related to coverage and funding mechanisms (such as the interplay of various funding mechanisms as well as funding for infrastructure, administration, and ancillary services) (Section C). For stakeholders interested in background on Medicaid, see Appendix C of this toolkit.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As in Section C of the "Determining priorities, goals, and actions" companion document in this toolkit, a range of strategies can help you address goals, including those that do not involve additional funding. For example, child welfare agencies can strengthen partnerships with existing organizations that deliver services.

### A. Coverage and funding mechanisms for MH and SUD services

Together, Medicaid and private health insurance account for the majority of spending on both MH and SUD services (SAMHSA 2019). Other federal, state, and local funding (including funding spent by child welfare agencies) also comprise significant portions of total spending on MH and SUD services (SAMHSA 2019). To support understanding of available coverage and funding mechanisms, this section features the following:

- Table 1 provides a high-level overview of some key features of state-administered MH and SUD services coverage and funding mechanisms that involve a federal component—such as for whom they can cover services, which services they can cover, federal versus state funding, limitations on the mechanism, and sources for additional information.
- The subsections after Table 1 provide additional background related to each of these mechanisms, focusing on Medicaid as a key source of coverage for families with children at risk of entering foster care. These sections also include information about the following:
  - The impact of Medicaid managed care authorities on coverage and availability of MH and SUD services (Section A.2)
  - Additional coverage and funding mechanisms that are not mentioned in Table 1, such as those that apply to some sub-populations of families with children at risk of entering foster care, and funding for community health centers (Section A.6)

Table 1. Key relevant coverage and funding mechanism	ns that states can use for MH and SUD s	services

	Coverable services			Bas	Basics of mechanism			
Coverage or funding mechanism	Which services?	For whom?	Which settings or providers?	How can a state obtain this mechanism?	Federal or state funding	Key limits (duration, and so on)	Additional notes and key considerations	Source or for more information
Medicaid cover	rage mechanisms							
Medicaid State Plan	Wide and variable range of services. Some are mandatory for state to cover, and others are optional (per section 1905(a) of the SSA). Includes benefits such as EPSDT, under which states must cover all "medically necessary" 1905(a) services for children under 21, regardless of the state's service package for adults.	Applies to most Medicaid-covered people in the state. Unless combined with other authority, services generally are statewide and comparable within types of eligibility groups.	State defines providers in state plan. Medicaid FFS services can be provided by any qualified, willing provider. Services to people in IMDs are generally excluded.	All states have state plan that outlines parameters of Medicaid program. Changes (such as changes in reimbursement methodology) require a SPA.	State generally receives regular FMAP, currently ranging from 50 percent to 76 percent. (See Mitchell 2018.)	SPA does not expire.	Various managed care authorities also impact service coverage and availability. See Section A.2 of this document for information and examples.	CMS website about: Benefits, Financial Management, and Managed Care. MACPAC website about State Plan
Section 1945 Health Home State Plan Option	Must include comprehensive care management, care coordination, health promotion, transitional care or follow-up, beneficiary and family or caregiver support, and referral to community or social support services.	Medicaid-covered people who have chronic conditions, which can include SMI, SED, or SUD. State defines specifics of target population and can target by geography.	State defines requirements for health home providers, which can include a provider, a team of health professionals, or a health team.	State proposes program details to CMS via SPA (including details on payment methodology, target population, and other features). Changes (such as changes in reimbursement methodology) require a SPA.	State receives 90 percent FFP for health home services for the first 8 quarters after approval (or 10 quarters for newly approved SUD programs) and regular FMAP afterward.	SPA does not expire.	State must meet quality measurement and reporting requirements. State can also request grant funds from CMS for planning the health home program. As of August 2019, 20 states have health homes that address SUD, SMI, or SED.	<u>CMS Health</u> <u>Home</u> <u>Information</u> <u>Resource</u> <u>Center</u>

	(	Coverable services		Bas	sics of mechanis	m		
Coverage or funding mechanism	Which services?	For whom?	Which settings or providers?	How can a state obtain this mechanism?	Federal or state funding	Key limits (duration, and so on)	Additional notes and key considerations	Source or for more information
Section 1915(i) State Plan HCBS	HCBS (such as case management, partial hospitalization, psychosocial rehab, or other services).	Medicaid-covered people who meet needs-based criteria defined by the state. Can target by condition but not geography. May expand income- related eligibility.	Services provided by any qualified, willing provider (unless state combines with another authority that allows limits on providers). HCBS settings rule (42 CFR 441.710(a)(1)(2)) applies to settings where services are delivered.	State submits SPA to CMS. Changes to the approved 1915(i) benefit require a SPA.	State receives applicable FMAP.	If state targets specific population(s), 1915(i) benefit is limited to five years, with the option for the state to request renewal. Otherwise, does not have time limit.	State must meet reporting requirements. State cannot limit participation to a specific number of people or limit enrollment to specific geographic areas of the state. In FY 2017, six states had 1915(i) HCBS for people with MH disabilities (Musumeci et al. 2019).	CMS website about 1915(i) HCBS: CMS HCBS Technical Assistance Website
Section 1915(c) HCBS Waiver	HCBS (such as case management, partial hospitalization, psychosocial rehab, or other services to avoid institutionalization).	Medicaid-covered people whose needs require an institutional level of care. Can target by condition and geography. May expand income- related eligibility.	Services provided by any qualified, willing provider (unless state combines with another authority that allows limits). HCBS settings rule (42 CFR 441.301(c)(4)(5)) applies to settings where services are delivered.	State submits waiver application to CMS. Must meet cost neutrality requirements.	State receives applicable FMAP.	Generally approved for three years and can be renewed for five years.	State must meet reporting requirements. State can limit participation to a specific number of people. Some states have 1915(c) waiver concurrent with 1915(b) managed care authority. In FY 2017, 12 states had 1915(c) waivers for individuals with MH disabilities (Musumeci et al. 2019).	CMS website about 1915(c) waivers: CMS HCBS Technical Assistance Website

	Coverable services			Bas	sics of mechanis	m		
Coverage or funding mechanism	Which services?	For whom?	Which settings or providers?	How can a state obtain this mechanism?	Federal or state funding	Key limits (duration, and so on)	Additional notes and key considerations	Source or for more information
Section 1115 Demonstration	SUD and SMI/SED demos allow state to receive FFP for short-term stays in IMDs. Some states cover additional services via section 1115 demonstrations.	State defines Medicaid-covered population included in its demonstration application.	Allows FFP for short-term IMD stays; state can further define providers of these and other services within its demonstration application. HCBS settings rule (42 CFR 441.301(c)(4)(5) and 42 CFR 441.710(a)(1)(2)) applies to settings where services are delivered.	State submits application to CMS. Must meet various requirements, including those related to budget neutrality.	State receives applicable FMAP.	Generally approved for five years and can be renewed.	State must work to meet other goals and milestones (for SUD and SMI/SED demos). Must also meet monitoring and evaluation requirements. As of November 2019, CMS has approved one SMI/SED and 27 SUD demonstrations.	CMS website about section <u>1115</u> demonstrations; CMCS 2017, CMCS 2018a
SAMHSA fundi	ng mechanisms							
MHBG	Wide range of MH services (such as outpatient services, supported employment, rehabilitation services, crisis stabilization, case management, wraparound services).	Adults with SMI or children with SED. For either group, must have a diagnosable behavioral health issue that disrupts daily life or community participation.	"Appropriate, qualified community programs" and community mental health centers that meet certain criteria (see 42 USC 300x-2(b)).	State can apply on an annual basis and submit a biannual plan. MHBG is formula- based and noncompetitive.	Federal grant	State must spend at least 10 percent of grant on EBPs for early SMI. State must meet MOE requirements.	State must form a planning council that provides input on MH plans and must meet management and monitoring requirements.	<u>SAMHSA</u> <u>website about</u> <u>MHBG</u>

	Coverable services			Bas	sics of mechanisr	n		
Coverage or funding mechanism	Which services?	For whom?	Which settings or providers?	How can a state obtain this mechanism?	Federal or state funding	Key limits (duration, and so on)	Additional notes and key considerations	Source or for more information
SABG	Wide range of services that prevent and treat SUD.	Services can be used for a general population, but targeted populations include pregnant women and women with dependent children. (See Section A.3 for information regarding services for these populations.)	SABG is not prescriptive but focuses on providers and organizations that provide substance abuse prevention and treatment services.	State can apply on an annual basis and submit a biannual plan. SABG is formula- based and noncompetitive.	Federal grant	State must spend at least 20 percent of grant on prevention services (additional caps on administrative spending). State must meet MOE requirements.	State must develop a SUD primary prevention program, provide specialized services to pregnant women and women with dependent children, and meet management and monitoring requirements.	SAMHSA website on SABG
Child welfare f	unding mechanisms							
Title IV-E prevention services	Time-limited MH, SUD services, and in-home parent skill-based programs to prevent foster care placement. Services must be evidence-based (approved by the Clearinghouse or approved for transitional payments). (See Section B for information on in- home parent skill- based programs.)	Children at imminent risk of foster care placement and their parents or kin caregivers. Can also be used for pregnant or parenting youth in foster care.	Title IV-E is not prescriptive about specific setting or providers. Programs and services must be specified in the state's prevention program plan.	State submits and receives approval for a five-year Title IV-E prevention program plan. State must create a prevention plan for each child, which documents prevention plan strategy and services to be provided.	FFP of 50 percent of spending on eligible services (or state's FMAP starting October 2026). State can also receive 50 percent FFP for administrative costs and staff training in accordance with statutory and regulatory requirements.	State must meet MOE requirements. Title IV-E is payer of last resort, though it can be used to help prevent delay of timely provision of services (pending reimbursement from the source that has ultimate responsibility).	Services and programs must be provided under a trauma-informed approach to service delivery. State must monitor and evaluate services provided.	Regarding state requirements: <u>ACYF-CB-PI-18-</u> 09; Regarding tribal agency requirements: <u>ACYF-CB-PI-18-</u> 10; Regarding transitional payments: <u>ACYF-CB-PI-19-</u> 06; <u>Title IV-E</u> <u>Prevention</u> <u>Services</u> <u>Clearinghouse</u>

	(	Coverable services		Bas	sics of mechanis	n		
Coverage or funding mechanism	Which services?	For whom?	Which settings or providers?	How can a state obtain this mechanism?	Federal or state funding	Key limits (duration, and so on)	Additional notes and key considerations	Source or for more information
Title IV-B	Broad range of services designed to support children and families. Might include parenting training as well as MH and SUD services.	Children and families either in foster care or at risk of child abuse or neglect.	State generally allowed to use funds on any service that is intended to meet the program's broad purpose of preventing maltreatment.	Grant funding to states and territories. Some components are formula-based and some are competitive.	State receives 75 percent FFP up to maximum allotment.	State cannot use funds to meet regular education costs or medical care needs. Also includes limitations on use of funds for purposes such as child care.	Regional Partnership Grants target services to children and parents affected by parental SUD. They are discretionary and not available to all states.	ACYF-CB-PI-19- 02; Stoltzfus 2012; Rosinsky and Williams 2018
Additional fami	ily support funding							
CBCAP	Funds can be used for a broad range of community- based services to prevent child abuse and neglect, including supporting respite care programs, parenting education, MH or SUD services.	General public or families at risk of maltreatment.	Emphasis on community-based services and cross-system collaboration. CBCAP agency encouraged to work with social services, physical health, MH, and SUD services.	State applies to receive funding. If state has a CBCAP office, it is eligible to receive the federal funds.	\$200,000 base fund to all states. 70 percent of funds are allotted based on the number of children in each state. 30 percent allotted based on other funds leveraged.		States are strongly encouraged to braid and blend private- public funds.	ACYF-CB-PI-19- 05; FRIENDS National Center for CBCAP 2018

		Coverable services		Ba	sics of mechanis	n		
Coverage or funding mechanism	Which services?	For whom?	Which settings or providers?	How can a state obtain this mechanism?	Federal or state funding	Key limits (duration, and so on)	Additional notes and key considerations	Source or for more information
TANF Block Grant	Program goals of providing assistance to needy families; promoting job preparation, work, and marriage; preventing and reducing the incidence of out-of- wedlock pregnancies, and encouraging formation and maintenance of two-parent families.	Individuals must be either pregnant or responsible for children under 19, low or very low- income, and be under- or un- employed. Each state and territory establishes the specific eligibility criteria.	Each state and territory selects the benefits provided through TANF. Funds can be used flexibly and include basic assistance, work- related activities, work supports, childcare, program management, tax credits, child welfare services, pre-kindergarten or Head Start, and other areas.	States receive a fixed annual amount of federal TANF funding.	\$16.5 billion total in federal funds to states. There is no state match requirement for TANF.	Although TANF includes work requirements and time limits for cash assistance, they do not apply when the benefits are applied toward families in which the child is the recipient. State must meet MOE requirements.	States can transfer up to 10 percent of TANF grant funds to SSBG, which allows for greater flexibility in state use of TANF funds.	<u>Falk 2017</u>
SSBG	Broad goals include providing support to eliminate dependency, achieve or maintain self- sufficiency, prevent maltreatment of children and adults, reunite families, prevent inappropriate institutional care, and secure admission to institutional care when necessary.	Households with low income. There are no federal eligibility criteria for SSBG participants, and states set their own eligibility criteria.	States decide how to use the funds, but the largest expenditures for services under SSBG were for child care, foster care, and special services for the disabled.	States and territories submit a plan specifying how grant funds will be used. An annual post- expenditure report is also required.	In FY 2019, \$1.7 billion total funds. States can provide services directly or sub-allocate funds to local qualified providers. States can transfer up to 10 percent of their TANF funds to SSBG.		SSBG appropriations have been subject to sequestration.	<u>Lynch 2016</u>

Notes: This table provides a high-level summary of some key features of these coverage and funding mechanisms and does not fully summarize or replace guidance from any federal agency. Although this toolkit focuses on states, many of the coverage and funding mechanisms also apply to territories, and some apply to tribal communities. Some of the rules for these mechanisms, however, vary for territories or tribal communities.

CBCAP = Community Based Child Abuse Prevention; CMS = Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services; EBP = evidence-based practice; EPSDT = Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnostic, and Treatment; FFP = federal financial participation; FFS = fee for service; FMAP = federal medical assistance percentage;

FY = fiscal year; HCBS = home and community-based services; IMD = institution for mental diseases; MH = mental health; MHBG = Community Mental Health Services Block Grant; MOE = maintenance of effort; SABG = Substance Abuse Prevention and Treatment Block Grant; SAMHSA = Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration; SED = serious emotional disturbance; SMI = serious mental illness; SPA = state plan amendment; SSA = Social Security Act; SSBG = Social Services Block Grant; SUD = substance use disorder; TANF = Temporary Assistance for Needy Families

## 1. Which MH and SUD services can <u>Medicaid</u> cover, and by what mechanisms can it do so?

Medicaid can cover a broad variety of MH and SUD services (see resources in Section C of the "Assessing population, service needs, and service coverage" companion document in this toolkit regarding services covered by state). States use various mechanisms (known as authorities) to cover services. Broadly, the authorities involve using the **state plan** or requesting from the Secretary of Health and Human Services a **waiver** of certain Medicaid program requirements. The following Medicaid authorities are most relevant to understanding MH and SUD service coverage:

State plan. Each Medicaid state plan details the parameters of a state's Medicaid program, including the services covered under a benefit,<sup>2</sup> Section 1905(a) of the Social Security Act (SSA) outlines the benefits that must be covered and those that are optional. Some of the categories of benefits under section 1905(a) of the SSA are broad (such as physician services and rehabilitative services) and leave room for states to define specifics and identify limits on the amount, duration, or scope of services. Services provided to people who reside in institutions for mental diseases (IMDs), which could include residential treatment settings of more than 16 beds, have historically not been eligible for reimbursement under the Medicaid state plan.<sup>3</sup> There are some exceptions, however, for people younger than age 21 (section 1905(a)(16) of the SSA) and older than 65 (section 1905(a)(14) of the SSA). The SUPPORT for Patients and Communities Act (passed in October 2018) allows states to apply for a time-limited state plan option to receive federal financial participation (FFP) for some SUD-related stays in an IMD under particular conditions (section 5052 of the SUPPORT for Patients and Communities Act). It also allows a partial exception for coverage of services to pregnant and postpartum women outside of an IMD, when the woman is receiving SUD treatment services in an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Although state plan services are generally applicable across Medicaid eligibility groups and throughout a state, there are some exceptions (and there can be variations in service coverage between some types of eligibility groups). For example, the adult Medicaid expansion population must be (and some other populations can be) covered under alternative benefit plans, which must also cover MH and SUD services and do so at parity with physical health services. Yet MACPAC (2018) noted that states that expanded Medicaid generally offered the same SUD benefit across eligibility groups. For people covered under the state plan, services must generally be comparable within types of eligibility groups (details and exceptions are described in Subpart B of 42 CFR 440).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> IMDs are hospitals, nursing facilities, or other institutions with more than 16 beds that are "primarily engaged in providing diagnosis, treatment or care of persons with mental diseases."(1905 (i) of the SSA, 42 CFR 435.1010) Clause B following section 1905(a) of the SSA (or see 42 CFR 435.1009(a)) excludes from Medicaid federal financial participation eligibility any services provided to people age 64 or younger who reside in IMDs. As in 42 CFR 435.1009(a), however, there is an exception to the IMD exclusion for people who are in IMDs and are receiving "inpatient psychiatric services for individuals under age 21" in accordance with 42 CFR 440.160 (known as the "psych under 21" benefit).

IMD (section 1012 of the SUPPORT for Patients and Communities Act) (Musumeci and Tolbert 2018).<sup>4</sup>

A few mechanisms for covering MH and SUD under a Medicaid state plan could be of particular interest to stakeholders who are planning prevention services:

- Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnostic, and Treatment (EPSDT). States are required to make available to Medicaid-covered children and adolescents younger than age 21 any 1905(a) Medicaid-coverable, medically necessary treatment or service required to "correct or ameliorate" physical or mental health conditions, even if the service is not in the state plan (see section 1905(r) of the SSA).<sup>5</sup> Notably, this requirement can apply to some services that are medically necessary for a child and are for the child's direct benefit but from which parents (even those who are not eligible for Medicaid) may receive some benefit. Examples include counseling or training a parent to address a child's neonatal abstinence syndrome (CMCS 2018b), some types of family therapy (MACPAC 2015), and maternal depression treatment services (CMCS 2016).<sup>6</sup> Such services also must be coverable under one or more section 1905(a) benefit categories.
- Rehabilitative services optional service. The "rehab services option" is a vehicle that states commonly use to cover clinical and non-clinical, community-based behavioral health services, such as peer support and psychiatric rehabilitation services (SAMHSA 2013; Zur et al. 2017). All states as of 2013 used the rehabilitative services option to cover at least some behavioral health services and it provides multiple flexibilities (SAMHSA 2013). For example, it allows services to be provided in a variety of settings and be provided by people who are not licensed under professional scope of practice laws (such as trained peers). It allows coverage of services for the purposes of reducing disability and restoring function.
- Section 1945 health home state plan option. As an optional benefit, states can create health homes to coordinate care for Medicaid beneficiaries who have chronic conditions (including MH and SUD conditions). States define the eligible populations and health home providers (for example, teams of health professionals in a community mental health center). There are certain services that health homes must provide: comprehensive care management, care coordination, health promotion, comprehensive transitional care or follow-up, beneficiary and family or caregiver

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> For relevant state guidance, see <u>CMCS's 2019 Informational Bulletin</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Cohen Ross et al. 2019 and Johnson and Bruner 2018 have additional information about EPSDT and describe opportunities in Medicaid to improve care for children.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Center for Medicaid and CHIP Services's 2019 Informational Bulletin about residential pediatric recovery centers as an optional provider type (based on section 1007 of the SUPPORT for Patients and Communities Act) also discusses this concept in relation to providing services to infants with neonatal abstinence syndrome and their mothers or other appropriate family members and caretakers.

support, and referrals to community and social support services. States receive a 90 percent enhanced federal medical assistance percentage for these services for up to the first 8 quarters after the program is approved (or 10 quarters for health homes approved in October 2018 or later that focus on people with SUD [Musumeci and Tolbert 2018]).<sup>7</sup>

- Section 1915(i) state plan home and community-based services (HCBS). Through this option, states can cover HCBS (such as psychosocial rehabilitation for people with chronic mental illness or respite services) for Medicaid-covered people who meet needs-based eligibility criteria set by the state that are less stringent than criteria for an institutional level of care. States can target these services to a specific population based on age, disability, diagnosis or Medicaid eligibility group, but they cannot target only a particular geographic area of the state; nor can they limit the number of participants who meet the defined needs-based criteria that can receive HCBS. Under 1915(i) state plan HCBS, states can also provide Medicaid to some people who meet certain income-related criteria and would not otherwise have qualified for Medicaid (see 42 CFR 435.219). In fiscal year 2017, six states had enrollees in 1915(i) state plan HCBS that focused on people with mental health disabilities (most people served by other 1915(i) state plan HCBS have intellectual or developmental disabilities) (Musumeci et al. 2019).
- Section 1915(c) HCBS waiver. This optional waiver authority allows states to offer HCBS to Medicaid-covered people who require an institutional level of care. States can limit enrollment in ways that they cannot under 1915(i) state plan HCBS (by limiting enrollment to specific areas within the state or capping enrollment to a certain number of people). 1915(c) waivers must be cost neutral to be approved, which can be difficult for states to demonstrate for non-elderly adults, especially because of the IMD exclusion (Dorn et al. 2016).<sup>8</sup> 1915(c) waivers cover services necessary to avoid institutionalization. States can also use 1915(c) waivers to provide Medicaid to some people who meet certain income-related criteria and would not otherwise have qualified for Medicaid unless living in an institution. In fiscal year 2017, almost 27,000 people across 12 states were enrolled in 1915(c) waivers that focused on people with mental health disabilities (most waivers targeted individuals with physical, intellectual, or developmental disabilities) (Musumeci et al. 2019).
- Section 1115 demonstrations.<sup>9</sup> In broad terms, section 1115 demonstrations involve waiving specific federal rules of the Medicaid program to implement a demonstration that

- <sup>8</sup> Demonstrating cost neutrality for children might not be as difficult, depending on the state's existing spending for services for children (such as payments for psychiatric residential treatment facilities, the therapeutic component of residential treatment centers that are less than 16 beds, or psychiatric inpatient hospitalization).
- <sup>9</sup> All references in this toolkit to Medicaid section 1115 demonstrations refer to demonstrations authorized by section 1115(a) of the SSA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Some states have more than one health home state plan amendment, for example, to expand to a new geographic area or new chronic conditions. Note that states can claim the enhanced match for a maximum of eight quarters per beneficiary.

promotes the objectives of Medicaid. In recent years, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) has announced opportunities for states to apply for section 1115 demonstrations to enhance care for SUD, serious mental illness, and serious emotional disturbance (CMCS 2017; CMCS 2018a). These opportunities allow states to receive FFP for short-term IMD stays, and they require states to work toward additional goals and milestones in reforming their delivery systems for SUD, serious mental illness, and serious emotional disturbance more broadly. Through section 1115 demonstrations, some states also made additional changes related to behavioral health by, for example, covering additional community-based behavioral health services or by implementing delivery system reforms to integrate physical and behavioral health (Hinton et al. 2019; Seibert et al. 2019). Subject to approval by CMS, states have the flexibility to define features such as delivery systems, populations covered, and geographic area. Demonstrations must meet federal requirements such as those related to budget neutrality, monitoring, and evaluation.

## 2. How do <u>Medicaid managed care</u> authorities impact the coverage and availability of MH and SUD services?

As described in Appendix C of this toolkit (Background on Medicaid), most Medicaid enrollees receive at least some services through managed care delivery systems. Although the services covered within Medicaid managed care are generally based on a state's Medicaid state plan, enrollment in Medicaid managed care (as opposed to fee-for-service Medicaid) is relevant to the coverage and availability of MH and SUD services for many reasons, such as the following:

- Risk-based Medicaid managed care entities<sup>10</sup> can cover some additional services beyond the state plan either as value-added or in lieu of services.
  - **Value-added services.** Risk-based managed care entities can voluntarily agree to provide additional services, though the cost of those services cannot be included when determining a state's payments to these entities (42 CFR 438.3(e)(1)(i)).
  - In lieu of services. Risk-based managed care entities can cover services or settings that are in lieu of services or settings covered under the state plan as long as they meet specific conditions outlined in 42 CFR 438.3(e)(2). For example, a state must determine that the service or setting is a medically appropriate and cost-effective substitute, and these services must be identified in the state's contract with the managed care entity. Notably, states can use this in lieu of authority to receive FFP for managed care capitation payments for adults who receive psychiatric or SUD treatment in an IMD for up to 15 days in a given month (Zur et al. 2017), though some states view this 15-day limit as too restrictive (MACPAC 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> These entities include managed care organizations, prepaid inpatient health plans, or prepaid ambulatory health plans (see 42 CFR 438.2 for definitions).

- Enrollees in Medicaid managed care organizations must have access to behavioral health services at parity with physical health services. See Subpart K of 42 CFR 438 for details.<sup>11</sup>
- Utilization management under Medicaid managed care entities can affect access to services. Managed care entities have various policies and procedures regarding utilization management (such as prior authorization requirements), which can affect their enrollees' access to services.
- Enrollees in Medicaid managed care can be limited to receiving services from providers in their managed care entity's network, whereas enrollees in fee-for-service Medicaid can receive services from any qualified, willing provider. Managed care entities must maintain network adequacy, including for behavioral health services (consistent with 42 CFR 438).
- Some specific Medicaid managed care authorities allow for coverage of some services that are in addition to state plan services. Using a 1915(b)(3) waiver, states can use projected cost savings to cover additional Medicaid coverable services. Some states also implement managed care (or other programs) by using section 1115 demonstration authority, and some of these demonstrations cover additional services (or they waive other Medicaid requirements to allow states to have a demonstration that furthers the goals of the Medicaid program).

As noted in Section C of the "Assessing population, service needs, and service coverage", companion document in this toolkit, it is also important to understand the varying structures of state Medicaid behavioral health service delivery systems (whether fee for service, managed care, or other carved-out entities) in order to understand the roles of managed care entities and how to coordinate with them.

### 3. Which MH and SUD services can the <u>Substance Abuse and Mental Health</u> <u>Services Administration (SAMHSA)</u> funding mechanisms cover?

The key relevant funding mechanisms via SAMHSA are the **Community Mental Health Services Block Grant** and the **Substance Abuse Prevention and Treatment Block Grant**. These block grants are highly flexible and can be used for behavioral health prevention, treatment, and recovery support services. The grants aim to supplement services covered by Medicare, Medicaid, and private insurance. This is especially useful for addressing the health care needs of uninsured and low-income populations as well as those with high-priority needs. For example, with the Substance Abuse Prevention and Treatment Block Grant, states are required to prioritize pregnant women, injection drug users, and women with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Alternative benefit plans also must meet parity requirements.

dependent children for services.<sup>12</sup> Every state has a women's treatment coordinator designated for the block grant.<sup>13</sup> The grants are non-competitive and formula based. Although the grants are flexible, most states use them to pay for outpatient services and, less frequently, for residential services or inpatient detoxification (Woodward 2015). All states and multiple territories receive both the Community Mental Health Services Block Grant and Substance Abuse Prevention and Treatment Block Grant (SAMHSA n.d.).<sup>14</sup> When compared with other sources of funding, however, the block grants tend to make up a small percentage of total state-controlled funding for MH and SUD services (SAMHSA 2019).

Many other sources of discretionary grant funding for services are available through SAMHSA, such as the **State Targeted Response to the Opioid Crisis Grants**, the **State Opioid Response Grant**, and the **System of Care Expansion and Sustainability Grants**. (For information about current funding announcements, see <u>https://www.samhsa.gov/grants</u>.) States receiving funds through these additional sources must consider how they contribute to the continuum of care, even though they tend to be time limited.

## 4. In addition to Title IV-E, what federal <u>child welfare</u> funding mechanisms can fund MH and SUD services?<sup>15</sup>

States can also use **Title IV-B** to fund MH and SUD services and related supports for families at risk of foster care placement. Title IV-B of the SSA consists of two subparts. The relevant prevention services in each subpart include the following:

- Subpart 1 (Child Welfare Services) funds can be used for services intended to meet the program's broad purposes of protecting and promoting the welfare of all children, preventing child abuse and neglect, and permitting children to remain in their own homes. Funds can be used for services for parents and children.
- Subpart 2 (Promoting Safe and Stable Families) includes funds for community-based family support services and family preservation services for children and parents. Services to prevent child maltreatment or to preserve families might include a range of family supports, including parenting classes, MH services, and SUD services. In addition, this subpart also includes competitive, discretionary Regional Partnership Grants (which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Under the Substance Abuse Prevention and Treatment Block Grant, states are required to provide specialized services for pregnant women and women with dependent children, including treating the family as a unit, providing primary care for women and children, offering gender-specific SUD treatment, giving priority admission to pregnant women, and providing transportation services and case management to women and children.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See the <u>Women's Services Network Contact List.</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Stakeholders can find information about their state's Community Mental Health Services Block Grant spending through SAMHSA's <u>Uniform Reporting System reports</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> For information about parameters of Title IV-E prevention services, see the Administration for Children and Families guidance (such as <u>ACYF-CB-PI-18-09</u>, <u>ACYF-CB-PI-18-10</u>, <u>ACYF-CB-PI-19-06</u>, and the <u>Child Welfare</u> <u>Policy Manual</u>) and Appendix A of this toolkit.

are available to some states) to provide services to families affected by parental substance use.

States vary widely in how they use Title IV-B funds, which make up a small proportion (four percent in State Fiscal Year 2016) of federal funds spent by child welfare agencies (Rosinsky and Williams 2018). For both subparts, 75 percent of program costs (up to the state's maximum allotment) are covered by the federal government.

## 5. What additional <u>family support</u> funding mechanisms can fund MH and SUD services?

Additional federal funds given to states can be used to fund prevention services, including Community Based Child Abuse Prevention (CBCAP) grants, Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF), and the Social Services Block Grant (SSBG).<sup>16</sup>

**CBCAP**, which is part of the Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act (CAPTA), provides formula-based grants to states to support community-based efforts to prevent child abuse and neglect. Funding can support a broad array of services to support families, including developing, maintaining, or redesigning community-based child abuse and neglect prevention program services (such as respite care services, MH services, and SUD services) (<u>ACYF-CB-PI-19-02</u>). States are encouraged to braid and blend funds to maximize federal contributions. In total, 70 percent of program costs are reimbursed by the federal government (FRIENDS National Center for CBCAP 2018). In fiscal year 2018, CBCAP appropriations totaled about \$40 million (Stoltzfus 2018).

**TANF** was created in 1996 (replacing Aid to Families with Dependent Children) with goals of providing assistance to needy families; promoting job preparation, work, and marriage; preventing and reducing the incidence of out-of-wedlock pregnancies; and encouraging formation and maintenance of two-parent families. Each state and territory establishes the specific eligibility criteria, but applicants must be either pregnant or responsible for children under 19, low or very low income, and be under or unemployed. In SFY 2016, child welfare agencies reported spending \$2.7 billion in TANF funds on child welfare services (Rosinsky and Williams 2018).

Each state and territory selects the benefits provided through TANF. Funds can be used flexibly and include basic assistance, work-related activities, work supports, child care, program management, tax credits, child welfare services, pre-kindergarten or Head Start, and other areas.

**SSBG** is a flexible funding source that enables states and territories to tailor social service programming to their population's needs. There are 28 service categories defined in the legislation, and many relate to child welfare. The broad goals for SSBG include providing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> States focusing on preventing adoption disruption may also want to consider funding mechanisms for postadoption support, such as Adoption Opportunities Grant Funds and Promoting Safe and Stable Families (Title IV-B, Subpart 2) adoption promotion and support funding.

support to eliminate dependency, achieve or maintain self-sufficiency, prevent maltreatment of children and adults, reunite families, prevent inappropriate institutional care, and secure admission to institutional care when necessary. There are no federal eligibility criteria for SSBG participants, and states set their own eligibility criteria for households with low incomes. Similarly, states decide how to use the funds, but the largest expenditures for services under SSBG were for child care, foster care, and special services for people who are disabled. In SFY 2016, child welfare agencies reported spending \$1.5 billion in SSBG funds on child welfare services (Rosinsky and Williams 2018).

## 6. What <u>other coverage and funding mechanisms</u> must states consider while braiding funding for MH and SUD services to prevent foster care placement?

The funding mechanisms mentioned previously are the key sources that involve at least some federal money and that states can consider when building a comprehensive array of services for families with children at risk of entering foster care.<sup>17</sup> But child welfare administrators must be aware of some additional coverage and funding mechanisms when evaluating individuals' needs and Title IV-E funding as a payer of last resort. Some people will be enrolled in **private health insurance, Medicare** (such as people who have disabilities), or the **Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP)**.<sup>18</sup> Other sources of funding or service administration include the **U.S. Department of Defense**, the **Veterans Health Administration**, the **Indian Health Service**, and **corrections or justice departments and agencies (federal, state, or local)**—including the federal **Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention**.<sup>19</sup> In addition, some funding through the Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA) can support MH and SUD services, such as the **Title V Maternal and Child Health Services Block Grant** and **funding for community health centers and rural organizations** (see HRSA 2019a for an example of such funding).<sup>20</sup> These funding sources will be relevant for some people.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> State and local general funds comprise a significant portion of expenditures on MH and SUD services (SAMHSA 2019).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> With CMS's approval, states can use some CHIP administrative funding for Health Services Initiatives to improve the health of children, such as public health initiatives. Some states use these initiatives to fund behavioral health services and parenting educations services and supports (MACPAC 2019a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Funding by the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention includes a variety of grants to states, some of which can be used for MH, SUD, or child abuse prevention. See <u>https://ojjdp.ojp.gov/programs/formula-grant-areas</u>. Coordinating with the juvenile justice system can be especially useful because of the number of youth who are involved or at risk for involvement in both the child welfare and juvenile justice systems.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Information about additional HRSA-funded programs regarding integrating behavioral health with primary medical care is available on <u>HRSA's behavioral health website</u>.

## B. Coverage and funding mechanisms for in-home parent skill-based programs

In-home parent skill-based programs include various types of parenting skills training and parent education and do not have to take place in a home setting (as described in <u>ACYF-CB-PI-18-09</u>).<sup>21</sup> In-home parent skill-based programs can vary widely (for example, some of them focus on MH needs and are provided by MH agencies), and, therefore, potential funding sources will depend on the scope of the program. This section focuses mainly on home visiting, because in comparison with funding for other in-home parent skill-based programs, the funding sources for home visiting are more formalized and have been more systematically documented in federal guidance and other documents. Key funding sources include the following:

- Funding for home visiting programs. The Maternal, Infant, and Early Childhood Home Visiting (MIECHV) program, administered by HRSA in partnership with the Administration for Children and Families, is the largest federal funding source dedicated to evidence-based home visiting.<sup>22</sup> In some states, MIECHV is the most significant or the only funding source for home visiting, but other states cover or fund home visiting with other sources such as Medicaid; TANF; Title V Maternal and Child Health Services Block Grants; and private, state, or local funds (Herzfeldt-Kamprath et al. 2017).
- Funding for other in-home parent skill-based programs. Because programs vary in scope and focus, potential funding sources will vary. Some programs might be coverable by Medicaid, and others might be funded by sources such as Title V Maternal and Child Health Services Block Grants; CAPTA; and private, state, and local funding.

Table 2 provides an overview of some key features of Medicaid and HRSA home visiting coverage and funding mechanisms, many of which can also apply to some other types of inhome parent skill-based programs. The subsections following the table provide additional background and narrative about these mechanisms, the impact of Medicaid managed care, and other funding mechanisms.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> See Box 2 of the "Assessing population, service needs, and service coverage" companion document in this toolkit regarding the definitions of and relationship between "home visiting" and "in-home parent skill-based programs." In addition, the Prevention Services Clearinghouse Handbook of Standards and Procedures (Wilson et al. 2019) includes further information about characteristics of in-home parent skill-based programs that might be eligible for the Clearinghouse.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> For an HRSA resource for MIECHV awardees regarding supporting families affected by opioid use and neonatal abstinence syndrome, see <u>HRSA 2018</u>.

## Table 2. Key Medicaid and HRSA coverage and funding mechanisms that states can use for home visiting programs (and some other in-home parent skill-based programs)

Coverage or funding mechanism	Which services?	For whom?	How can a state obtain this mechanism?	Federal or state funding	<b>Key limits</b>	Sources			
Medicaid coverage	Medicaid coverage mechanisms								
Traditional Medical Assistance Services	Section 1905(a) of the SSA and 2 CFR 440 define various mandatory and optional services, and states describe details in their state plans. (For example, it can be care by other licensed practitioners [42 CFR 440.60] or home health services [42 CFR 440.70].)	Applies to most Medicaid-covered people in the state. Unless combined with another authority, services generally are statewide and comparable within types of eligibility groups.	No SPA needed if practitioner types and services are already in state plan. Changes (such as changes in reimbursement methodology) require a SPA.	State generally receives regular FMAP, currently rangingfrom 50 percent to 76 percent. (See Mitchell 2018.)	Services must meet definitions described in 1905(a) of SSA, which might not include all activities provided in home visiting programs.	CMCS/ HRSA 2016; Johnson 2019: Normile et al. 2017			
Targeted Case Management	Services to help people in "gaining access to needed medical, social, educational, and other services." Includes assessment, care plan development, referrals to services, and monitoring or follow-up (42 CFR 440.169).	States can target services to specific populations of Medicaid-covered people and to specific geographic areas.	No SPA needed if practitioner types and services are already in state plan. Changes (such as changes in reimbursement methodology)require a SPA.	State receives applicable FMAP.	Does not cover direct medical services.	<u>CMCS/</u> <u>HRSA</u> 2016; <u>Normile et</u> al. 2017			
Administrative Case Management	Case man agement to facilitate access to and coordinate Medicaid services (such as securing authorizations for services and assisting with service coordination).	All Medicaid-covered people statewide.	Does not require a SPA. State must submit Cost Allocation Plan for administrative claims to CMS for approval.	State receives 50 percent FFP (administrative match).	Cannot be used to reimburse for direct medical services.	<u>Johnson</u> 2019: <u>Normile et</u> al. 2017			
EPSDT Benefit	Any Medicaid-coverable, medically necessary 1905(a) benefit that is needed to "correct or ameliorate" physical or mental health conditions (section 1905(r) of the SSA).	Medicaid-covered children and adolescents younger than age 21. Some EPSDT services (which are medically necessary for a child and are for the child's direct benefit) might also benefit parents.	States must cover EPSDT services; therefore, state plan coverage pages are not required. State must have reimbursement methodology in state plan, so it might need to submit a SPA.	State receives applicable FMAP.	Services must be medically necessary and for the direct benefit of the child. The state cannot have hard limits on the services.	CMCS 2016: Johnson 2019			

Coverage or funding mechanism	Which services?	For whom?	How can a state obtain this mechanism?	Federal or state funding	<b>Key limits</b>	Sources
Extended Services for Pregnant Women	Services related to pregnancy or conditions that might complicate pregnancy (42 CFR 440.250(p)).	Pregnant women and mothers up to 60 days postpartum.	State submits a SPA to CMS.	State receives applicable FMAP.	Coverage only during pregnancy and 60 days postpartum.	<u>CMCS/ HRSA 2016;</u> Johnson 2019
HRSA funding med	chanisms					
MIECHV	Delivery of comprehensive high- quality voluntary early childhood home visiting services to families and coordination with statewide and local early childhood systems to support the needs of those families.	Pregnant women and parents with children up to kindergarten entry living in at-risk communities identified in a statewide needs assessment.	States apply annually for MIECHV formula funding. States must update their statewide needs assessment by October 2020.	Federal grant. As of 2018, HRSA allocates up to \$400 million per year across states, territories, and tribal entities.	States must invest 75 percent of funding in evidence-based home visiting models; up to 25 percent can be invested in promising approaches.	HRSA home visiting website: HRSA, MIECHV Brief
Title V Maternal and Child Health Services Block Grants	Preventive and primary care services, care coordination, and case man agement. So me states use Title V to fund components of home visiting.	Low-income women and children.	States apply annually for Title V funding. States complete needs assessment every 5 years.	State must match every \$4 of the Title V federal dollars with at least \$3 in state or local funding.	State must spend 30 percent of federal funds on preventive and primary care services for children, and at least 30 percent for services for children with special health care needs. States can request waiver of this requirement.	<u>HRSA</u> 2019b

Notes: This table provides a high-level summary of some key features of the secoverage and funding mechanisms and does not fully summarize or replace guidance from any federal agency. Although this toolkit focuses on states, many of the coverage and funding mechanisms also apply to territories, and some apply to tribal communities. Some of the rules for these mechanisms, however, vary for territories or tribal communities.

CMCS = Center for Medicaid and CHIP Services; CMS = Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services; EPSDT = Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnostic and Treatment; FFP = federal financial participation; FMAP = federal medical assistance percentage; HRSA = Health Resources and Services Administration; MIECHV = Maternal, Infant, and Early Childhood Home Visiting; SPA = state plan amendment; SSA = Social Security Act.

### 1. Which home visiting programs does <u>MIECHV</u> fund?

Authorized by Title V, the MIECHV Program funds evidence-based home visiting programs that serve at-risk pregnant women and parents with young children up to kindergarten entry. In 2018, HRSA awarded \$361 million in funding to all 50 states, the District of Columbia, and five territories.<sup>23</sup> States are required to prioritize services to families living in at-risk communities identified through a statewide needs assessment; states must update their needs assessments by October 1, 2020. By law, state and territory grantees must spend the majority of their MIECHV program grants to implement evidence-based home visiting models, with up to 25 percent of funding available to implement promising approaches that will undergo rigorous evaluation. The <u>Home Visiting Evidence of Effectiveness</u> web page includes information on which models are eligible for MIECHV funding.

State-specific information about MIECHV funds is available through HRSA, including stateby-state fact sheets of home visiting programs and populations served.

## 2. Which components of home visiting programs can <u>Medicaid</u> cover, and by what mechanisms can it do so?

As discussed in relation to MH and SUD services (see Section A.1 of this document), states can use various authorities within Medicaid to cover services. Under the Medicaid state plan (in which states detail parameters of their Medicaid program), states can use multiple benefits to cover components of home visiting programs, including the following:

- **Traditional medical assistance services.** States might consider covering some components of home visits as mandatory or optional benefits (as defined under section 1905(a) of the SSA). A joint informational bulletin by CMS and HRSA includes examples of medical assistance services that states might consider covering when they are provided as part of a home visit, such as other licensed practitioner services, preventive services, rehabilitative services, and home health services (CMCS/HRSA 2016). But some educational and care coordination activities that are part of home visits might not be covered in this way (Normile et al. 2017).
- **Case management.** Case management services (defined in 42 CFR 440.169 and 42 CFR 441.18) include comprehensive assessment of an eligible individual, development of a specific care plan, referral to services, and monitoring activities. The case management benefit does not include services such as counseling or medical services that might be provided as part of a home visit, but these services can be provided via other Medicaid benefit categories (CMCS/HRSA 2016). Types of case management that are coverable under Medicaid include the following:
  - **Targeted case management.** Most states that cover components of home visiting programs as part of Medicaid do so via the targeted case management benefit

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> See <u>HRSA's home visiting website</u> for links to state-by-state information, such as formula funding award amounts.

(Johnson 2019; Herzfeldt-Kamprath et al. 2017). For targeted case management, states can define the specific populations (for example, first-time parents), specific geographic areas within a state, providers (such as lay providers), and models that can be reimbursed (Normile et al. 2017). A state plan amendment is not required if practitioner types and services are already in the state plan, but changes will require a state plan amendment.

 Administrative case management. Administrative case management is an optional Medicaid benefit that facilitates access to and coordinates Medicaid services (such as securing authorizations for services and helping coordinate services) (Normile et al. 2017). States can claim an administrative federal match of 50 percent for core components of administrative case management (Johnson 2019). Providing administrative case management does not require a state plan amendment, but it does require a CMS-approved Cost Allocation Plan.

### Box 1. Oklahoma example: Using Medicaid targeted case management to support home visiting

Oklahoma uses the Medicaid targeted case man agement benefit to support home visits to lowincome first-time mothers through the Nurse-Family Partnership model. The home visiting program is administered by the Oklahoma Department of Health and operates statewide. Trained public health nurses visit homes and can bill Medicaid under targeted case man agement or nurse assessment codes, which cover a subset of services provided during a home visit. The annual program budget is \$8.5 million, of which \$1 million represents Medicaid spending, more than \$7 million comes from state general revenue funds, and about \$400,000 comes from Maternal, Infant, and Early Childhood Home Visiting program funds (Nomile et al. 2017).

States might also consider authorities for services that are focused on children or pregnant women, including the following:<sup>24</sup>

• **EPSDT.** As described in the context of MH and SUD services in Section A.1, EPSDT is a benefit that entitles all children and adolescents who are younger than age 21 and enrolled in Medicaid to any 1905(a) Medicaid-coverable service that is medically necessary for correcting or ameliorating conditions identified by screening services regardless of whether these are covered under the state plan (see section 1905(r) of the SSA). EPSDT can cover core components of home visiting programs that serve children, including screenings for developmental delays or for identifying health needs such as hearing and vision problems, as well as case management (CMCS/HRSA 2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> States might also wish to consider <u>CMCS's 2019 Informational Bulletin</u> about residential pediatric recovery centers as an optional provider type, based on section 1007 of the SUPPORT for Patients and Communities Act. Residential pediatric recovery centers are centers or facilities that provide services to infants with neonatal abstinence syndrome and their mothers (and other appropriate family members and caretakers).

- EPSDT benefit and parents. As described in Section A.1, some EPSDT services (which are medically necessary for a child and are for the child's direct benefit) might indirectly also benefit parents—even those who are not Medicaid eligible. EPSDT services can therefore include some components of home visiting programs, such as family therapy (MACPAC 2015) or maternal depression screening and treatment services (CMCS 2016).
- Extended services for pregnant women. Through this optional benefit, states can provide services to pregnant women and mothers up to 60 days after birth as long as services are related to pregnancy or conditions that might complicate the pregnancy (Normile et al. 2017). States submit a state plan amendment to cover these services. Pregnancy-related services are those that are "necessary for the health of the pregnant woman and fetus" and include "prenatal care, delivery, postpartum care, and family planning services" (see 42 CFR 440.250(p) and CFR 440.210(a)(2)) (CMCS/HRSA 2016).

Some of these Medicaid coverage mechanisms can also apply to other in-home parent skillbased programs, though their applicability will depend on the scope of the program. A survey of states noted that 12 state Medicaid programs (of 49 responding states) paid for parenting programs designed to help parents of young children promote children's social-emotional development and address child mental health needs (Smith et al. 2017).<sup>25</sup> Potential settings for these programs included mental health clinics, medical settings, homes, and other community settings.

## 3. How do Medicaid <u>managed care</u> authorities impact the coverage and availability of home visiting programs?

Medicaid managed care service delivery can impact coverage and availability of services in multiple ways (see Section A.2 of this document). Some states implement home visiting under section 1915(b) or 1115 waivers, which can allow states some flexibility in how they target and design the home visiting program (Normile et al. 2017; Seibert et al. 2019). Notably, most states that cover home visiting in Medicaid (even those with managed care for other health services) pay for it on a fee-for-service basis, separate from payments to managed care entities—though some states include home visiting within Medicaid managed care (Herzfeldt-Kamprath et al. 2017; Johnson 2019). For example, Minnesota includes its home visiting program in managed care, and its Medicaid managed care entities contract with local health departments to provide home visiting (Herzfeldt-Kamprath et al. 2017). <sup>26</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Smith et al. 2017 also describes how two of these states (Michigan and Oregon) require providers to use evidence-based parenting programs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> For more information about the funding and structure of Minnesota's home visiting program, see Minnesota Department of Health's website at <u>https://www.health.state.mn.us/communities/fhv/index.html#Example1</u>.

## 4. What other funding mechanisms fund in-home parent skill-based programs such as home visiting programs?

As discussed in Section A.6, some people will be enrolled in coverage such as **private health insurance** or **CHIP**, which could cover in-home parent skill-based programs.<sup>27</sup> In addition, **Early Head Start** offers in-home and center-based programming to support healthy child development and school readiness for families with pregnant women and children younger than age 3.<sup>28</sup> Families that are living in poverty, are homeless, or are receiving public assistance (such as TANF or Supplemental Security Income) can be eligible (Child Trends Databank 2018).

States can also use a variety of other relatively flexible funding mechanisms—such as **Title V Maternal and Child Health Services Block Grants, TANF,** and some **child welfare funding mechanisms (such as Title IV-B and CAPTA)**—to fund home visiting (Johnson 2019) and other in-home parent skill-based programs. For example, HRSA administers the Title V Maternal and Child Health Services Block Grant program to support access to quality health care for mothers and children—particularly those with low income or with limited availability of health services—in the 59 states and jurisdictions. Goals of the program include increasing access to preventive services for children. Grants are formulabased, and states must match every \$4 of Title V federal dollars with at least \$3 in state or local funding (HRSA 2019b). States are also required to conduct statewide needs assessments once every five years (HRSA 2019b). <u>State Action Plans</u> and <u>State Snapshots</u>, available through HRSA, offer state-specific Title V program details about funding, services (such as home visiting and parenting education), population served, and performance.

## C. Additional considerations related to coverage and funding mechanisms

While planning Title IV-E prevention services and working more broadly to meet the needs of families with children at risk of entering foster care, states reported multiple challenges in relation to funding streams. These include concerns related to Title IV-E as a payer of last resort, working to braid funds, and considering funding sources for infrastructure, administration, and ancillary services.<sup>29</sup> Each of these concerns appears here.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> As mentioned in Section A.6, with CMS approval, states can use some CHIP administrative funding for Health Services Initiatives to improve the health of children, such as public health initiatives. Some states use these initiatives to fund parenting educations services and supports (MACPAC 2019a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> For more information about Early Head Start, including links to state-specific information, see <u>https://eclkc.ohs.acf.hhs.gov/programs/article/early-head-start-programs</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> These examples are based on Mathematica's stakeholder discussions, which are described in the introduction to this toolkit.

### 1. Payer of last resort

As discussed in <u>ACYF-CB-PI-18-09</u> and noted previously in this toolkit, the Family First Prevention Services Act (FFPSA) stipulates that Title IV-E is the payer of last resort. Specifically, if the cost of providing a Title IV-E prevention service to an individual would have been paid from another public or private source if not for the enactment of FFPSA, a Title IV-E agency is not considered to be a legally liable third party for the cost of providing such services to that individual with one exception: a Title IV-E agency can use Title IV-E prevention program funding under section 474(a)(6) of the act to pay a provider for these services to prevent delaying the timely provision of appropriate early intervention services (pending reimbursement from the public or private source that has ultimate responsibility for the payment) (section 471(e)(10)(C) of the act).

Therefore, if public or private program providers (such as private health insurance or Medicaid) would pay for a service allowable under the Title IV-E prevention program, those providers have the responsibility to pay for these services before the Title IV-E agency would be required to pay. For example, if a parent with Medicaid coverage is receiving MH services that would be covered by Medicaid and that are also allowable under the Title IV-E prevention program, Medicaid must pay for the covered service before the Title IV-E portion (if any) is paid. This provision in effect makes Title IV-E the payer of last resort for Title IV-E prevention services in this instance.

Title IV-E agencies must consider the best ways to track, reimburse, and bill for services. For example, Title IV-E agencies have flexibility in how they set reimbursement structures and rates for Title IV-E prevention services. The agency might also consider how to identify other potential funding sources relevant to a given individual. States should consult with the Administration for Children and Families Children's Bureau Regional Offices regarding questions about Title IV-E prevention services reimbursement as the payer of last resort.

### 2. States' efforts to braid Title IV-E funds

As discussed in Sections A and B, many funding streams are available for funding comprehensive MH, SUD, and in-home parent skill-based programs for families with children at risk of entering foster care. In our conversations with states, many were in the early stages of planning for FFPSA and reported exploring the specifics of available funding mechanisms and planning for technical details of braiding funds (including relevant administrative functions). Most mentioned using more than one funding stream to meet the diverse needs of their population. For example, a member of the FFPSA planning leadership in the District of Columbia noted having mapped out current funding sources for services for these families; examples of funding sources used included local funding, Medicaid, CAPTA, and Title IV-B (both Stephanie Tubbs Jones Child Welfare Services grants and Promoting Safe and Stable Families).

In addition, one state planning lead summarized how some states are exploring usage of funds and leveraging partnerships to do so:

"We don't currently have any TANF funds in child welfare, and I know some states do have access to TANF. If they have it available, they can actively explore how they can meet the purposes of TANF, and free up other funds. The other area may be how to use SSBG (Title XX funds). And then I think just partnering with other entities that do some of those services. We've talked about Medicaid, but also there are home visiting funds... We're looking at how we might partner with agencies that may already be doing something like this. Is there a way we can both find greater capacity by doing it together?"

Many states discussed braiding funds to pay for home visiting programs, including potentially scaling up existing programs by using Title IV-E prevention services reimbursement for inhome parent skill-based programs. For example, Virginia funds Healthy Families America and other programs through TANF, CAPTA, and Title IV-E. In addition, Virginia's health department and private entities use MIECHV funds to offer Nurse-Family Partnership. The state has a home visiting consortium that is represented on their FFPSA planning committee.

## 3. Funding infrastructure and administrative activities related to evidence-based practices (EBPs)

Funding infrastructure and administrative activities related to EBPs can be challenging for states. Examples of these activities include staff training and fidelity monitoring required for many EBPs, developing and managing data infrastructure, interagency collaboration, case consultation, and reporting to the court on treatment progress. The following are a few funding sources that states can consider to support these activities:

- Title IV-E reimbursement for administrative costs will be available at 50 percent FFP for the proper and efficient administration of the Title IV-E prevention program. As described in <u>ACYF-CB-PI-18-09</u>, these include activities to develop necessary processes and procedures to establish and implement the provision of prevention services for eligible people, policy development, program management, data collection, and reporting. They also include child-specific costs, such as the development and maintenance of the child's prevention plan, and case management activities, such as verification and documentation of program eligibility, referral to services, and preparation for and participation in judicial proceedings Training for some types of staff is considered a reimbursable administrative cost (see <u>ACYF-CB-PI-18-09</u> for details). Examples of staff training topics that are eligible for reimbursement include how to determine eligibility, identify and provide appropriate services, and oversee and evaluate appropriateness of services.
- **Medicaid** allows some types of investments in data systems or information technology to receive an administrative match or, in some cases, enhanced FFP (90 percent for the design, development, and implementation of systems and 75 percent for maintenance and operation). One example is technology to share data between providers and agencies (CMCS 2018a). When such systems also apply to people not covered by Medicaid, a state would need to properly allocate costs to Medicaid to be eligible for reimbursement under the Medicaid program.

- **SAMHSA block grants** can be used to support some infrastructure and administrative activities, such as staff training (including training staff to assess the fidelity of EBPs), information systems, infrastructure support (for example, crisis-response capacity), and partnerships across state and local agencies.<sup>30</sup>
- Other child welfare funding. Some Title IV-B funds can be used for program-related administrative costs, research, evaluation, training, or technical assistance (for example, see sections 422(c)(1) and 426 of the SSA) (Stoltzfus 2012). With CBCAP, states can fund activities such as training, technical assistance, and information management and reporting (ACYF-CB-PI-19-05).
- **Other funding.** TANF block grants can, for example, support a variety of services and supports for families, including for purposes related to family preservation (Rosinsky and Williams 2018; Schott et al. 2019). Because TANF block grants are quite flexible, they might be applicable to some types of infrastructure and administrative activities.

#### Box 2. Washington example

Washington State used its Title IV-E waiver to help plan for new services. In spring 2019, the state reported exploring mechanisms to pay for social workers' time working with families to connect them with appropriate referrals, including potentially as an administrative cost under Title IV-E prevention services reimbursement or through a coverage mechanism under Medicaid.

#### 4. Funding for ancillary services (such as transportation and childcare costs)<sup>31</sup>

With respect to ancillary services for Title IV-E prevention services, the states' most commonly mentioned concerns related to the transportation costs of implementing EBPs and ensuring access to services, especially in rural areas.<sup>32</sup> Rural areas might have a limited pool of providers who are trained to deliver evidence-based services. In addition, if there are no local providers, some families live hundreds of miles from the nearest provider, making it very difficult to provide services for these families. It is not yet clear how families who live far from providers will receive the services described in the prevention plan or how these costs will be covered. Nevertheless, states are considering how to provide services in remote areas. In Medicaid, some states are expanding the use of telehealth to provide behavioral health services (Schober et al. n.d.). Some child welfare agencies are considering helping

<sup>30</sup>This information is based on the block grant application (available at <u>https://www.samhsa.gov/grants/block-grants</u>).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> The National Academy of State Health Policy compiled a matrix of funding sources available to states to address the health-related social needs (such as transportation, housing, and child care) of people with low income (see <u>Meeting the Health-Related Social Needs of Low-Income Persons: Funding Sources Available to States</u>).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Note that although Medicaid covers non-emergency medical transportation, the scope of the benefit varies by state (MACPAC 2019b).

people access transportation by leveraging ridesharing services in areas with limited transportation options.

Some states also reported considering available funds to address the housing needs of people in families with children at risk of entering foster care. For example, the Community Development Block Grant can serve to fund housing supports. Notably, the SUPPORT for Patients and Communities Act includes a provision to facilitate creation of a pilot program that provides grants to states to support temporary housing for people in recovery from SUD (grants are to be treated as though they were Community Development Block Grant funds; section 8071 of the SUPPORT for Patients and Communities Act).

### References

- Center for Medicaid and CHIP Services (CMCS). "Maternal Depression Screening and Treatment: A Critical Role for Medicaid in the Care of Mothers and Children." CMCS Informational Bulletin. Baltimore, MD: Center for Medicaid and CHIP Services, May 11, 2016. Available at <u>https://www.medicaid.gov/federal-policy-</u> guidance/downloads/cib051116.pdf.
- Center for Medicaid and CHIP Services (CMCS). "Opportunities to Design Innovative Service Delivery Systems for Adults with a Serious Mental Illness or Children with a Serious Emotional Disturbance." Letter from Mary C. Mayhew, deputy administrator and director, to state Medicaid directors. SMD No. 18-011. Baltimore, MD: Center for Medicaid and CHIP Services, November 13, 2018a. Available at <u>https://www.medicaid.gov/federalpolicy-guidance/downloads/smd18011.pdf</u>.
- Center for Medicaid and CHIP Services (CMCS). "Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome: A Critical Role for Medicaid in the Care of Infants." CMCS Information Bulletin. Baltimore, MD: Center for Medicaid and CHIP Services, June 11, 2018b. Available at <u>https://www.medicaid.gov/federal-policy-guidance/downloads/cib060818.pdf</u>.
- Center for Medicaid and CHIP Services (CMCS). "Strategies to Address the Opioid Epidemic." Letter from Brian Neale, director, to state Medicaid directors. SMD No. 17-003. Baltimore, MD: Center for Medicaid and CHIP Services, November 1, 2017. Available at <u>https://www.medicaid.gov/federal-policyguidance/downloads/smd17003.pdf</u>.
- Center for Medicaid and CHIP Services and Health Resources and Services Administration (CMCS/HRSA). "Coverage of Maternal, Infant, and Early Childhood Home Visiting Services." Joint Informational Bulletin. Baltimore, MD: Center for Medicaid and CHIP Services, March 2, 2016. Available at <a href="https://www.medicaid.gov/federal-policy-guidance/downloads/cib-03-02-16.pdf">https://www.medicaid.gov/federal-policy-guidance/downloads/cib-03-02-16.pdf</a>. Accessed December 26, 2019.
- Child Trends Databank. "Head Start." December 27, 2018. Available at <u>https://www.childtrends.org/?indicators=head-start.</u> Accessed December 26, 2019.
- Cohen Ross, D., J. Guyer, A. Lam, and M. Toups. "Fostering Social and Emotional Health Through Pediatric Primary Care: A Blueprint for Leveraging Medicaid and CHIP to Finance Change." Washington, DC: Center for the Study of Social Policy, June 2019. Available at <u>https://cssp.org/resource/medicaid-blueprint/</u>.
- Dorn, S., R. Peters, M. Cheeks, P. Casanove, G. Eckart, and T. Lutterman. "The Use of 1915(i) Medicaid Plan Option for Individuals with Mental Health and Substance Use Disorders." Washington, DC: Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, November 2016. Available at <u>https://aspe.hhs.gov/basic-report/use-1915imedicaid-plan-option-individuals-mental-health-and-substance-use-disorders</u>.
- Falk, G. "The Temporary Assistance for Needy Families Block Grant: A Primer on TANF Financing and Federal Requirements." Report RL32748. Washington, DC: Congressional Research Service, December 14, 2017. Available at <u>https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/RL32748.pdf</u>.

- FRIENDS National Center for Community-Based Child Abuse Prevention. "Maximizing Fiscal Resources for the Community-Based Child Abuse Prevention (CBCAP) State Lead Agencies: A Guidebook and Toolkit." Chapel Hill, NC: FRIENDS National Center for Community-Based Child Abuse Prevention, January 2018.
- Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA). "HHS Awards Nearly \$400 Million to Combat the Opioid Crisis." Press release. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, August 8, 2019a. Available at <u>https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2019/08/08/hhs-awards-nearly-400-million-to-combatopioid-crisis.html</u>.
- Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA). "HRSA's Home Visiting Program: Supporting Families Impacted by Opioid Use and Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome." Rockville, Maryland: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2018. Available at <u>https://mchb.hrsa.gov/sites/default/files/mchb/MatemalChildHealthInitiatives/HomeVisitin</u> <u>g/MIECHV-Opioid-NAS-Resource.pdf</u>.
- Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA). "Title V Maternal and Child Health Services Program." 2019b. Available at <u>https://mchb.hrsa.gov/maternal-child-healthinitiatives/title-v-maternal-and-child-health-services-block-grant-program</u>. Accessed December 26, 2019.
- Herzfeldt-Kamprath, R., M. Calsyn, and T. Huelskoetter. "Medicaid and Home Visiting: Best Practices from States." Washington, DC: Center for American Progress, January 2017. Available at <u>https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/early-</u> <u>childhood/reports/2017/01/25/297160/medicaid-and-home-visiting/</u>.
- Hinton, E., M. Musumeci, R. Rudowitz, L. Antonisse, and C. Hall. "Section 1115 Medicaid Demonstration Waivers: The Current Landscape of Approved and Pending Waivers." Issue Brief. Menlo Park, CA: Kaiser Family Foundation, February 12, 2019. Available at <u>https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/section-1115-medicaid-demonstration-waivers-the-current-landscape-of-approved-and-pending-waivers/</u>.
- Johnson, K. "Medicaid Financing for Home Visiting: The State of States' Approaches." Hinesburg, VT: Johnson Group Consulting, 2019. Available at <u>https://ccf.georgetown.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Medicaid-and-Home-Visiting.pdf</u>.
- Johnson, K., and C. Bruner. "A Sourcebook on Medicaid's Role in Early Childhood: Advancing High Performing Medical Homes and Improving Lifelong Health." Des Moines, IA: Child and Family Policy Center, October 2018. Available at <u>https://www.cfpciowa.org/en/issues/health\_equity/sourcebook\_on\_medicaids\_role\_in\_ea</u> <u>rly\_childhood/</u>.
- Lynch, K. "Social Services Block Grant: Background and Funding." Washington, DC: Congressional Research Service, March 2016. Available at <u>https://fas.org/sqp/crs/misc/94-953.pdf</u>.

- Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission (MACPAC). "Chapter 3: The Intersection of Medicaid and Child Welfare." In *Report to Congress on Medicaid and CHIP*. Washington, DC: Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission, June 2015. Available at <u>https://www.macpac.gov/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/Intersection-of-Medicaid-and-Child-Welfare.pdf</u>.
- Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission (MACPAC). "Chapter 4: Access to Substance Use Disorder Treatment in Medicaid." In *Report to Congress on Medicaid and CHIP*. Washington, DC: Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission, June 2018. Available at <u>https://www.macpac.gov/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/Accessto-Substance-Use-Disorder-Treatment-in-Medicaid.pdf</u>.
- Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission (MACPAC). "CHIP Health Services Initiatives: What They Are and How States Use Them." Fact sheet. Washington, DC: MACPAC, July 2019a. Available at <u>https://www.macpac.gov/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/CHIP-Health-Services-Initiatives.pdf</u>
- Medicaid and CHIP Payment and Access Commission (MACPAC). "Medicaid Coverage of Non-Emergency Medical Transportation." Issue brief. Washington, DC: MACPAC, May 2019b. Available at <u>https://www.macpac.gov/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Medicaid-</u> <u>Coverage-of-Non-Emergency-Medical-Transportation.pdf</u>.
- Mitchell, A. "Medicaid's Federal Medical Assistance Percentage (FMAP)." Report R4387. Washington, DC: Congressional Research Service, April 25, 2018. Available at <u>https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R43847.pdf</u>.
- Musumeci, M., P. Chidambaram, and M. O'Malley Watts. "Medicaid Home and Community-Based Services Enrollment and Spending." Issue Brief. Menlo Park, CA: Kaiser Family Foundation, April 2019. Available at <u>http://files.kff.org/attachment/Issue-Brief-Medicaid-Home-and-Community-Based-Services-Enrollment-and-Spending</u>.
- Musumeci, M., and J. Tolbert. "Federal Legislation to Address the Opioid Crisis: Medicaid Provisions in the SUPPORT Act." Issue Brief. Menlo Park, CA: Kaiser Family Foundation, October 2018. Available at <u>https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/federallegislation-to-address-the-opioid-crisis-medicaid-provisions-in-the-support-act/</u>.
- Normile, B., K. VanLandeghem, and A. King. "Medicaid Financing of Home Visiting Services for Women, Children, and Their Families." Washington, DC: National Academy for State Health Policy, August 2017. Available at <u>https://nashp.org/wpcontent/uploads/2017/09/Home-Visiting-Brief.pdf</u>.
- Rosinsky, K., and S. C. Williams. "Child Welfare Financing SFY 2016: A Survey of Federal, State, and Local Expenditures." Bethesda, MD: Child Trends, December 2018. Available at <u>https://www.childtrends.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/CWFSReportSFY2016</u> <u>ChildTrends\_December 2018.pdf</u>.

- Schober, M., S. Robshaw, and S. Pires. "Telehealth and Mobile Technology in Child, Youth, and Young Adult Behavioral Health." n.d. Available at <u>https://theinstitute.umaryland.edu/media/ssw/institute/national-center-</u> <u>documents/Telehealth-and-Mobile-Technology-in-Child-Youth-and-Young-Adult-</u> <u>Behavioral-Health.pdf</u>.
- Schott, L., I. Floyd, and A. Burnside. "How States Use Funds Under the TANF Block Grant." Washington, DC: Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, February 19, 2019. Available at <u>https://www.cbpp.org/research/family-income-support/how-states-use-funds-under-the-tanf-block-grant</u>.
- Seibert, J., H. Stockdale, R. Feinberg, E. Dobbins, E. Theis, and S. L. Karon. "State Policy Levers for Expanding Family-Centered Medication-Assisted Treatment." Washington, DC: Office of the Assistance Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, 2019. Available at <u>https://aspe.hhs.gov/basic-report/state-policy-levers-expanding-family-centeredmedication-assisted-treatment</u>.
- Smith, S., M. R. Granja, M. Ekono, T. Robbins, and M. Nagaruret. "Using Medicaid to Help Young Children and Parents Access Mental Health Services." New York, NY: National Center for Children in Poverty, 2017. Available at http://www.nccp.org/publications/pub\_1164.html.
- Stoltzfus, E. "Child Welfare: Funding for Child and Family Services Authorized Under Title IV-B of the Social Security Act." Report R41860. Washington, DC: Congressional Research Service, October 2012.
- Stoltzfus, E. "Child Welfare Funding in FY2018." Report R45270. Washington, DC: Congressional Research Service, July 30, 2018. Available at <u>https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R45270.pdf</u>.
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA). "Behavioral Health Spending and Use Accounts 2006–2015." HHS Publication No. 19-5095. Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, 2019. Available at <u>https://store.samhsa.gov/system/files/bhsua-2006-2015-508.pdf</u>.
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA). "Fiscal Year 2020: Justification of Estimates for Appropriations Committees." Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, n.d. Available at <u>https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/samhsa-fy-2020-congressional-justification.pdf</u>.
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA). "Medicaid Handbook: Interface with Behavioral Health Services." HHS Publication No. SMA-13-4773. Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, 2013. Available at <u>https://store.samhsa.gov/system/files/sma13-4773.pdf</u>.
- Wilson, S. J., C. S. Price, S. E. U. Kerns, S. D. Dastrup, and S. R. Brown. "Title IV-E Prevention Services Clearinghouse Handbook of Standards and Procedures, Version 1.0." OPRE Report No. 2019-56, Washington, DC: Office of Planning, Research, and Evaluation, 2019. Available at <u>https://www.acf.hhs.gov/opre/resource/the-preventionservices-clearinghouse-handbook-of-standards-and-procedures</u>.

- Woodward, A. "The CBHSQ Report: The Substance Abuse Prevention and Treatment Block Grant Is Still Important Even with the Expansion of Medicaid." Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, 2015. Available at <u>https://www.samhsa.gov/data/report/substance-abuse-prevention-and-treatment-block-grant-still-important-even-expansion-medicaid</u>.
- Zur, J., M. Musumeci, and R. Garfield. "Medicaid's Role in Financing Behavioral Health Services for Low-Income Individuals." Issue Brief. Menlo Park, CA: Kaiser Family Foundation, 2017. Available at <u>https://www.kff.org/medicaid/issue-brief/medicaids-rolein-financing-behavioral-health-services-for-low-income-individuals/</u>.

This page has been left blank for double-sided copying.